FILED 08-07-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

Page 1 of 32

## STATE OF WISCONSIN

## COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2024AP79-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

WALTER L. JOHNSON,

Defendant-Respondent.

APPEAL FROM A PRETRIAL ORDER ENTERED IN DANE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JOHN D. HYLAND, PRESIDING

## BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

NICHOLAS S. DESANTIS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1101447

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-8556 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) desantisns@doj.state.wi.us

##

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

Walter L. Johnson drove 130 miles per hour, went airborne into oncoming traffic, and killed a child. His blood sample tested positive for methamphetamine. He was charged, among other crimes, with homicide by vehicle with a restricted controlled substance in his blood and operating with a restricted controlled substance in the blood causing injury. "Methamphetamine" is a "restricted controlled substance" under the relevant Wisconsin statutes.

challenged the charges, Johnson arguing that "methamphetamine" means only the specific isomer<sup>1</sup> dextromethamphetamine (D-meth), as opposed levomethamphetamine (L-meth). L-meth is exempt from certain types of regulation under a separate chapter, the Uniform Controlled Substances Act, because it can be sold over the counter in certain nasal inhalers. Johnson argued this that exemption changes the meaning of "methamphetamine," as used in the definition of a "restricted controlled substance," to refer only to the specific isomer D-meth. The test results of the now-destroyed blood sample did not state which isomer was present in Johnson's blood.

1. Is L-meth a restricted controlled substance under Wisconsin law?

The circuit court concluded that the statute was ambiguous, then examined legislative history and concluded that L-methamphetamine was not a restricted controlled substance.

<sup>1</sup> "Isomers" are two or more chemical compounds that have the same chemical formula but different chemical structures. *State ex rel. Huser v. Rasmussen*, 84 Wis. 2d 600, 611 n.3, 267 N.W.2d 285 (1978).

\_

This Court should reverse. L-meth is unambiguously a restricted controlled substance within the meaning of Wis. Stat. § 340.01(50m).

2. Is the classification of L-meth as a restricted controlled substance unconstitutional as applied to Johnson under either the due process clause or the equal protection clause?

The circuit court did not reach this question.

If this Court reaches this issue, this Court should answer: "No."

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Publication may be appropriate because this case involves an unsettled issue of statewide importance.

Oral argument is not requested because the briefs should adequately set forth the parties' arguments.

## INTRODUCTION

Johnson drove 130 miles per hour in Madison and went airborne into oncoming traffic, killing a child. His blood sample tested positive for methamphetamine. He was charged, among other crimes, with homicide by a motor vehicle with a detectable amount of a restricted controlled substance in his blood and operating with a restricted controlled substance in the blood causing injury.

Johnson sought dismissal of the charges based on the Wisconsin state laboratory's inability to distinguish between D-meth and L-meth. The relevant statutes define "methamphetamine" as a restricted controlled substance under the motor vehicle code, Wis Stat. § 340.01(50m), and the criminal code, Wis. Stat. § 967.055(1m)(b). L-meth and D-meth are both methamphetamine. However, Johnson pointed out that because L-meth can be sold over the counter

Case 2024AP000079 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-07-2024 Page 8 of 32

in certain nasal inhalers, it is exempt from certain regulation as a "controlled substance" under Wis. Stat. ch. 961, the Uniform Controlled Substances Act. He argued that this exemption changed the meaning of "methamphetamine," as a restricted controlled substance (in a different chapter of the statutes), to refer only to the specific isomer D-meth.

The circuit court agreed with Johnson that L-meth is not a restricted controlled substance. The court concluded that the word "methamphetamine," as used in the definition of a "restricted controlled substance," is ambiguous because there are two different isomers of methamphetamine. The court then consulted legislative history and concluded that L-meth is not a restricted controlled substance. While the court did not dismiss the case, it held that the State would be required to prove Johnson's blood sample (which has now been disposed of in the normal course of business) contained D-meth as opposed to L-meth. The court did not reach Johnson's alternative constitutional challenge.

This Court should reverse the circuit court's order. L-meth is a restricted controlled substance based on the unambiguous plain language of the statutes. The fact that L-meth can be lawfully sold in some nasal inhalers does not change the definition of "methamphetamine," which remains a restricted controlled substance in all its forms. Therefore, the State need not prove that Johnson's blood sample contained D-methamphetamine. Moreover, the classification of L-meth as a restricted controlled substance is not unconstitutional as applied to Johnson because it is rationally related to the legitimate government interest in promoting roadway safety.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

According to the criminal complaint, Johnson drove approximately 130 miles per hour on Stoughton Road in Madison with his daughter, KRR, in the vehicle. (R. 2:3–5;

27:5.) Johnson lost control of the vehicle. (R. 2:3.) The vehicle flipped over, went "airborne across the median," smashed into an oncoming vehicle, went down a hill, and finally came to rest on a frontage road. (R. 2:2–3.) KRR was killed in the crash. (R. 2:4.) The driver of the vehicle Johnson hit was hospitalized. (R. 2:4.) Johnson's license was suspended at the time of the crash and had been suspended for more than one year leading up to the crash. (R. 2:5.)

A sample of Johnson's blood was drawn after the crash. (R. 2:5.) The sample revealed that Johnson's blood contained 24 ng/mL of methamphetamine. (R. 2:5.) Johnson was charged with four counts as a result of the crash: (1) homicide by vehicle with a detectable amount of a restricted controlled substance in his blood; (2) operating a vehicle while suspended, causing death; (3) operating with a restricted controlled substance in his blood, causing injury; and (4) first-degree reckless homicide. (R. 27:1–2.)

Johnson filed a Franks/Mann<sup>2</sup> motion alleging that the State offered false or misleading information on counts one and three, both of which involved Johnson's positive methamphetamine blood test. (R. 47.) His argument was based on the Wisconsin State Laboratory of Hygiene's inability to distinguish between two different isomers of methamphetamine: dextromethamphetamine (known as D-meth), and levomethamphetamine (known as L-meth). (R. 41:3.) D-meth is the form of "street" methamphetamine commonly found in drugs like crystal methamphetamine. (R. 78:29–30; 103:7; 104:19.) It is a stimulant known to cause things like agitation, increased risk-taking, and difficulty concentrating. (R. 104:19.) L-meth could be found in some over-the-counter nasal inhalers. (R. 78:29; 111:15.) It is a vasoconstrictor and causes things like increased blood

<sup>2</sup> Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154 (1978); State v. Mann, 123 Wis. 2d 375, 367 N.W.2d 209 (1985).

9

pressure. (R. 104:20–21.) The Wisconsin State Laboratory of Hygiene does not have the equipment needed to distinguish between L-meth and D-meth in the bloodstream. (R. 78:33; 104:44.)

Johnson argued that since L-meth can be lawfully obtained over the counter, it could not be a restricted controlled substance. (R. 47:2–3.) The circuit court denied the motion without a hearing, holding that "[t]he statutes simply do not differentiate between the two isomers [of methamphetamine] when it comes to the offense charged." (R. 55:5.) Johnson then filed pretrial motions including a motion to dismiss counts 1 and 3, both of which relied upon the test results showing methamphetamine in his blood. (R. 41:1.)

Johnson pointed out that under chapter 961, the Uniform Controlled Substances Act, L-meth is not a "controlled substance" because it may be lawfully sold without a prescription. Wis. Stat. § 961.11(6)(a); (R. 101:10). He argued that since L-meth is not a controlled substance under this chapter, it also must not be a "restricted controlled substance" under the motor vehicle code and chapter 967. (R. 101:9–13.) He advanced several studies that he claimed proved it was possible to have a positive methamphetamine blood test result solely from using lawful over-the-counter products containing L-meth. (R. 101:1–3.)

Johnson also raised two constitutional arguments. First, he argued that his right to due process was violated because the laboratory destroyed his blood sample. (R. 101:8–11.) Second, he argued that if the court were to conclude L-meth was a restricted controlled substance, then the statutes would be unconstitutional as applied to him because there would be no rational basis for imposing criminal liability on him for operating a motor vehicle with a detectable amount of L-meth in his blood stream. (R. 101:18–19.) The State argued that the blood sample was merely destroyed in the normal course of business after Johnson had passed up

Case 2024AP000079 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-07-2024 Page 11 of 32

his opportunity to request preservation, and that in any event L-meth was a restricted controlled substance.

The circuit court held evidentiary hearings on Johnson's motions. The defense called forensic toxicologist and drug identification consultant James Oehldrich, who discussed studies relating to L-meth. (R. 78:58–62.) Oehldrich explained that one such study showed of a sample of 13 adults dosed with Vicks VapoInhalers, two participants tested positive for small amounts of methamphetamine. (R. 67:1; 78:67.) He also pointed to an article showing that selegiline, a medication sometimes prescribed to Parkinson's patients, can produce a detectable amount of L-meth in the blood (R. 78:70–72), along with a case study showing L-meth in the system of a deceased 77-year-old man who was a regular Vicks VapoInhaler user (R. 78:73–74).

Analyst Michael Knutsen, who conducted Johnson's blood test, acknowledged that L-meth and D-meth are different, with L-meth generally having a milder effect. (R. 88:53–54.) He also acknowledged the existence of studies showing that some amount of L-meth has been detected in some individuals' blood plasma samples after the administration of Vicks VapoInhalers and other medication. (R. 88:60–74.)

Amy Miles, the Director of Forensic Toxicology for the Wisconsin State Laboratory of Hygiene, confirmed that L-meth has milder effects than D-meth and can be found in Vicks VapoInhalers. (R. 78:29–30.) She addressed several studies advanced by the defense as showing that L-meth can be detected in blood from nasal inhalers and explained why she did not think those studies proved that proposition. For example, she pointed out that the detection level used in the Mendelson study, in which 12 participants dosed with Vicks VapoInhalers up to four times the recommended dose, was only 5 ng/mL. (R. 100:40.) The hygiene laboratory's detection threshold, in contrast, is 10 ng/mL. (R. 100:41.) Despite that,

even those participants dosed with four times the recommended dose were "often below the limit of quantification" of L-meth. (R. 63:4.) Therefore, it cannot be said that this study shows L-meth from nasal inhalers can be detected in the blood, because the study's threshold is lower than that used by the laboratory. (R. 100:42.)

Miles testified that she knows of only one laboratory in the country, a private laboratory, that performs chiral<sup>3</sup> analysis for methamphetamine. (R. 88:28.) Miles further explained that even this laboratory "hardly ever" conducts a chiral analysis to distinguish between L-meth and D-meth, and when they do it is generally for workplace drug testing. (R. 88:28.) She also explained that in her experience, other states do not tend to differentiate between L-meth and D-meth. (R. 88:44.)

Miles explained that the research shows that individuals dosed with L-meth generally do not also have detectable amounts of amphetamines in their systems, whereas the samples tested by the laboratory generally do contain detectable amounts of amphetamines along with methamphetamine. (R. 100:43.)

Regarding the destruction of the blood sample, Miles explained that the laboratory's policy is to retain blood samples for six months after a final report is generated regarding the test results. (R. 100:11.) This is because the laboratory tests over 20,000 samples per year and does not have space to retain them all, and because the usefulness of the samples degrades over time. (R. 100:13.) However, if defendants or the court request that the sample be retained for longer than that, then the sample is retained for longer than that. (R. 100:27–28.)

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$  A chiral analysis uses specialized equipment to separate isomers of a drug. (R. 88:38.)

Case 2024AP000079 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-07-2024 Page 13 of 32

Miles explained that in Johnson's case, the final report was generated on May 18, 2021. (R. 100:16.) Johnson's attorney was provided with the information from the final report, including the blood test results, but did not request that anyone retain the blood sample. (R. 100:21–22.) The sample was eventually destroyed on March 16, 2022, in accordance with the laboratory's routine procedure. (R. 100:22.) Finally, in June 2022, Johnson's attorney inquired into the status of the blood sample. (R. 100:23–24.)

The circuit court first addressed and rejected Johnson's due process claim, holding that Johnson failed to prove that the blood sample was even potentially exculpatory or that the district attorney's office and/or the laboratory acted in bad faith. (R. 111:6-8.) However, the circuit court concluded that L-meth is not a restricted controlled substance under the motor vehicle code or chapter 967. (R. 111:12.) The court concluded that because there are two different isomers of methamphetamine, and because L-meth is not a controlled substance within the meaning of chapter 961, the word "methamphetamine" as used in the motor vehicle code and chapter 967 is ambiguous. (R. 111:15-17.) The court explained that, while L-meth can create impairment in excess, Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a) already prohibits operating a vehicle under the influence of any drug to a degree that renders a person incapable of driving safely. (R. 111:16.) The court also concluded that it would be "illogical and confusing" if L-meth were a restricted controlled substance but not a controlled substance. (R. 111:17–18.)

The court then examined legislative history, primarily drafting notes from legislators, and concluded that L-meth is not a restricted controlled substance. (R. 111:18–20.) Having concluded that L-meth was not a restricted controlled substance, the circuit court did not reach Johnson's alternative argument that making L-meth a restricted

controlled substance was unconstitutional as applied to him. (R. 111:20.)

The circuit court concluded that it would be premature to dismiss counts 1 and 3 at this stage because the State could theoretically prove through "corroborative and/or circumstantial evidence" that Johnson's blood contained D-meth. (R. 111:21.) However, the court held that to prove counts 1 and 3, the State would need to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Johnson's blood contained D-meth as opposed to L-meth. (R. 111:20.)

The State filed a petition for leave to appeal the circuit court's order holding that on counts 1 and 3, the State would bear the burden of proving Johnson's blood contained D-meth as opposed to L-meth. (R. 116.) This Court granted the petition. (R. 121.) This interlocutory appeal follows.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

## **Statutory Interpretation**

This Court reviews questions of statutory interpretation de novo.  $State\ v.\ Patterson,\ 2010\ WI\ 130,\ \P\ 45,\ 329\ Wis.\ 2d.\ 599,\ 790\ N.W.2d\ 909.$ 

## As-applied Constitutional Challenge

This Court determines de novo whether a defendant has satisfied her burden to prove a statute unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Wood*, 2010 WI 17, ¶ 15, 323 Wis. 2d 321, 780 N.W.2d 63.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. L-methamphetamine is unambiguously a restricted controlled substance under the plain meaning of the statutes.

Whether L-meth is a "restricted controlled substance" under Wis. Stat. §§ 340.01(50m) and 967.055(1m)(b)<sup>4</sup> is a question of statutory interpretation. When interpreting a statute, the plain meaning of a statute controls. *State ex rel. Kalal v. Cir. Ct. for Dane Cnty.*, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. "Statutory language is given its common, ordinary, and accepted meaning, except that technical or specially-defined words or phrases are given their technical or special definitional meaning." *Id.* 

A statute "is interpreted in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as part of a whole; in relation to the language of surrounding or closely-related statutes; and reasonably, to avoid absurd or unreasonable results." *Kalal*, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 46. "If this process of analysis yields a plain, clear statutory meaning, then there is no ambiguity, and the statute is applied according to this ascertainment of its meaning." *Id.* (quoting *Bruno v. Milwaukee County*, 2003 WI 28, ¶ 20, 260 Wis. 2d 633, 660 N.W.2d 656).

Here, Johnson and the circuit court manufacture ambiguity where none exists. L-meth is unambiguously a restricted controlled substance under Wis. Stat. §§ 340.01(50m) and 967.055(1m)(b) because L-meth is methamphetamine.

As a starting point, both Wis. Stat. §§ 340.01(50m) and 967.055(1m)(b) simply list "methamphetamine" as a restricted controlled substance. There is no suggestion in

15

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> These two definitions are identical except that Wis. Stat. § 340.01(50m) lists one additional substance, 6-monoacetylmorphine, which is not relevant here.

Case 2024AP000079 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-07-2024 Page 16 of 32

either of these statutes that "methamphetamine" means only some specific isomer of methamphetamine. And there is no dispute that both L-meth and D-meth are, in fact, isomers of methamphetamine. (R. 101:8, 10.)

Methamphetamine is not further defined in Wis. Stat. §§ 340.01(50m) or 967.055(1m)(b). It is, however, defined in the Uniform Controlled Substances Act, Wis. Stat. ch. 961. Schedule II of the Controlled Substances Act includes:

"Any material, compound, mixture, or preparation which contains any quantity of any of the following substances having a stimulant effect on the central nervous system, including any of their salts, isomers and salts of isomers that are theoretically possible within the specific chemical designation:

- (a) Amphetamine.
- (b) Methamphetamine."

Wis. Stat. § 961.16(5)(a)–(b). Therefore, the definition of "methamphetamine" as used in the Uniform Controlled Substances Act unambiguously includes both L-meth and D-meth.

Johnson is correct that L-meth cannot be regulated as a "controlled substance" under chapter 961. But that has nothing to do with the definition of methamphetamine in chapter 340 or chapter 967. Rather, it is because the legislature created an exception for L-meth under chapter 961. Wisconsin Stat. § 961.11(6)(a) states that "[t]he controlled substances board shall not have authority to control a nonnarcotic substance if the substance may, under the federal food, drug and cosmetic act and the laws of this state, be lawfully sold over the counter without a prescription." This exception applies to L-meth, which can be lawfully sold over the counter as an ingredient in a nasal inhaler.

This exception applicable to chapter 961 has nothing to do with the definition of methamphetamine in the Restricted Controlled Substances statutes. Wis. Stat. § 961.16(5)(b). L-meth is still methamphetamine. Section 961.11(6)(a)'s exception for over-the-counter products does not suggest otherwise. It merely says that this specific isomer of methamphetamine, L-meth, cannot be regulated by the controlled substances board *under chapter 961*. This does not suggest that L-meth cannot be regulated as a restricted controlled substance under other statutory sections. Alcohol, for example, is a nonnarcotic that can be lawfully sold over the counter (and therefore cannot be regulated under chapter 961), but it of course can be regulated in a whole host of other ways.

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