Filed 09-30-2024

FILED 09-30-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Appeal No. 2024AP79-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN, Plaintiff-Appellant,

-vs.-

WALTER L. JOHNSON, Defendant-Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM A PRETRIAL ORDER ENTERED IN DANE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JOHN D. HYLAND, PRESIDING. DANE COUNTY CASE NO. 2021CF1178

DEFENDANTS-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Respectfully submitted by:

Joseph S. Riepenhoff, SBN 1086537

PINIX LAW, LLC 1200 East Capitol Drive, Suite 360 Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53211 T: 414.963.6164 | F: 414.967.9169 joe@pinixlaw.com www.pinixlaw.com

Attorneys for the Defendants-Respondents

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

Summary of the Argument

The trial court was right: l-meth, a compound found in legal, over the counter medication, that does not impair driving unless ingested in enormous quantities, and that is specifically delineated in Federal law as *not* a scheduled, controlled substance, is not a restricted controlled substance under Wis. Stat. § 340.01(50m)(d).

Well-established law combined with the briefs and evidence adduced at the hearings correctly establish that Wis. Stat. § 340.01(50m)(d) was never meant to include 1-meth as a restricted controlled substance. This Court should reach the same conclusion here and affirm.

But the court's decision is the right result for another reason, too. In addition to not appropriately fitting as a controlled substance under Wisconsin law, if l-meth were to be included in § 340.01(50m)(d) the result would be unconstitutional as applied to Johnson. Under that unconstitutional as applied theory, the trial court could also have come to the conclusion that the State's argument fails, offering this Court an alternate path to affirmance. Though the constitutional issue cannot be a basis for reversal, since it was not decided by the circuit court, it could be the basis for affirmance.

Either way, this Court should affirm the circuit court's order.

<u>Argument</u>

I. The State 's arguments are weakened by their declining to make them before the circuit court.

The State here saw no need to address the statutory interpretation question in the circuit court. (*See* R.109:11.) When given the opportunity to argue that l-meth was included in Wis. Stat. § 340.01(50m)(d), the State refused to do so. (*See id.* claiming "it too is not ripe." *See also* R.78:9 ("There is really one novel issue before the Court and it is not even that novel. It is a spoliation issue."); R.88:8-10, 14-16.) The State should not be allowed to change its mind now that it is unhappy with a decision on an issue it failed to argue. The majority of the State's brief makes arguments that were not made below.

"A party seeking reversal may not advance arguments on appeal which were not presented to the trial court." *State v. Rogers*, 196 Wis. 2d 817, 826, 539 N.W.2d 897 (Wis. App. 1995). Appellate courts strive to avoid reversals that "blindside" trial courts based on theories or arguments that did not originate in their forum. *State v. Rogers* at 828. The forfeiture rule is "not merely a technicality or a rule of convenience; it is an essential principle of the orderly administration of justice." *State v. Huebner*, 2000 WI 59, ¶ 11, 235 Wis. 2d 486, 611 N.W.2d 727. The rule promotes both efficiency and fairness, and "goes to the heart of the common law tradition and the adversary system." *Id.* "By forcing parties to make all of their arguments to the trial court, it prevents the extra trials and hearings which would result if parties were only required to raise a general issue at the trial level with the knowledge that the details could always be relitigated on appeal (or on remand) should their original idea not win favor." *Rogers*, 196 Wis. 2d at 828.

The forfeiture rule focuses on whether specific arguments have been preserved, not on whether general issues were raised before the circuit court. An appellant "must articulate each of its theories to the trial court to preserve its right to appeal." *Id.* at 829. *Rogers* makes clear that the forfeiture rule requires that, to preserve its right to appeal, an appellant must "make *all* of its arguments to the trial court." *See id.* at 827 (emphasis added).

The Wisconsin Supreme Court has clearly set forth the importance of applying the forfeiture rule in promoting efficient and fair litigation:

The purpose of the "forfeiture" rule is to enable the circuit court to avoid or correct any error with minimal disruption of the judicial process, eliminating the need for appeal. The forfeiture rule also gives both parties and the circuit court notice of the issue and a fair opportunity to address the objection; encourages attorneys to diligently prepare for and conduct trials; and prevents attorneys from "sandbagging" opposing counsel by failing to object to an error for strategic reasons and later claiming that the error is grounds for reversal.

State v. Ndina, 2009 WI 21, ¶ 30, 315 Wis. 2d 653, 761 N.W.2d 612 (citations omitted).

The reasons for the forfeiture rule outlined by the supreme court in *Ndina* all apply with full force here to the State's attempt at interpreting Wis. Stat. § 340.01(50m)(d) : 1) the State's failure to make all of its material arguments to the circuit court deprived both the circuit court and the defense of a fair opportunity to address them, 2) a diligent attorney would have litigated the statutory interpretation argument in the circuit court, and ordering reversal based on arguments developed first on appeal would undermine judicial efficiency and sanction the State's failures, and 3) allowing the State to develop its statutory interpretation argument for the first time on appeal sandbags the defense and blindsides the circuit court by advocating for reversal based on an argument that the State failed to when it should have.

Allowing the State to litigate issues that it did not raise earlier would be fundamentally unfair to the circuit court and to the defense, and it would sanction the State's failure to raise the issue when it clearly should have in litigating the circuit court motions. Reversing the circuit court's order would give an aggrieved party a right to relitigate a decision simply by injecting a new argument into the case that the party should have made prior to the adverse decision.

II. L-methamphetamine is not a restricted controlled substance under the Motor Vehicle Code.

In order to ascertain the meaning of Wisconsin's restricted controlled substance law we must consider the context of its statutory provisions and definitions. *See State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cty.*, 2004 WI 58, ¶48, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110 (Wis. 2004). This ends up being a circuitous process, which requires following statutory references from the Motor Vehicle Code to the Criminal Uniform Controlled Substances Act and ultimately to the Federal Code. It is a confusing path beset with sometimes poor drafting, and any confusion that emerges below is a valid response. Indeed that should be the take away of this analysis: The laws surrounding restricted controlled substances are not as straightforward or simple as the State suggests.

Let us begin with Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a) and (am) which sets forth that:

(1) No person may drive or operate a motor vehicle while: (a) [...] under the influence of any other drug to a degree which renders him or her incapable of safely driving [...]; or (am) The person has a detectable amount of a restricted controlled substance in his or her blood.

The Motor Vehicle Code appears to identify methamphetamine as a restricted controlled substance under the definitions of Wis. Stat. § 340.01(50m)(d). But evidence elicited at the hearings before the circuit court established that there are at least two different forms of methamphetamine: here referred to as *l-meth* and *d-meth* for short. (R.78:28-30, 75-76; R.88:22.)

A. The plain meaning of § 340(50m)(d) manifests ambiguity.

As mentioned above, "scope, context, and purpose are perfectly relevant to a plain-meaning interpretation of an unambiguous statute as long as the scope, context, and purpose are ascertainable from the text and structure of the statute itself." *State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cty.*, 2004 WI 58, ¶48, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110 (Wis. 2004). As stated in *Kalal*:

Context is important to meaning. So, too, is the structure of the statute in which the operative language appears. Therefore, statutory language is interpreted in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as part of a whole; in relation to the language of surrounding or closely-related statutes; and reasonably, to avoid absurd or unreasonable results.

Id. at 46 citing State v. Delaney, 2003 WI 9, ¶ 13, 259 Wis. 2d 77, 658 N.W.2d 416; Landis v. Physicians Ins. Co. of Wis., 2001 WI 86, ¶ 16, 245 Wis. 2d 1, 628 N.W.2d 893; Seider v. O'Connell, 2000 WI 76, ¶ 43, 236 Wis. 2d 211, 612 N.W.2d 659. Therefore the definition contained in Wis. Stat. § 340.01(50m)(d) cannot be read in isolation, but must be considered within the context of the Wisconsin Statutes to which it relates.

First looking directly above (50m)(d) to another, related definition is Wis. Stat. § 340.01(9m) which defines "controlled substance" as having the meaning given in § 961.01(4). § 961.01(4) states "a drug, substance or immediate precursor included in schedules I to V of subch. II." Moving then to Chapter 961 is the Uniform Controlled Substances Act and under its provisions "Methamphetamine" is listed under sub (5) Stimulants, of Schedule II. Wis. Stat. § 961.16(5)(b).

However, again looking to the context of the plain language of now the 961 statute, the prefatory language to § 961.16 states: "Unless specifically excepted by state or federal law or regulation [. . .] the following controlled substances are listed in schedule II." Wis. Stat. § 961.16. And under the "Authority to control" section: "The controlled substances board shall not have authority to control a nonnarcotic substance if the substance may, under the federal food, drug and cosmetic act and the laws of this state, be lawfully sold over the counter without a prescription." Wis. Stat. § 961.11(6)(a). As the circuit court decision highlighted: "Wisconsin regulation of controlled substances explicitly yields to federal regulation." (R.111:15.)

The code of Federal Regulation explicitly excludes the relevant form of l-meth at issue in this case. *See* 21 CFR § 1308.22:

The following nonnarcotic substances which may, under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (21 U.S.C. § 301), be lawfully sold over the counter without a prescription, are excluded from all schedules pursuant to § 201(g)(1) of the Act (21 U.S.C. § 811(g)(1)):

Company - Aphena Pharma Solutions – New York, LLC Trade name - Nasal Decongestant Inhaler/Vapor Inhaler Form - IN Controlled Substance - *Levmetamfetamine* (1-Desoxyephedrine) (mg or mg/ml) – 50.00

[...]

Company – Procter & Gamble Co., The Trade name – Vicks VapoInhaler NDC code – 37000-686-01 Form – IN

Page 12 of 23

Controlled substance - *Levmetamfetamine* (1-Desoxyephedrine) (mg or mg/ml) - 50.00

(*Emphasis added*.) As such, L-meth is not a controlled substance under the Federal Drug Regulations. Therefore, the Wisconsin Uniform Controlled Substances Act, ch. 961, cannot prohibit its possession and the Wisconsin Controlled Substances Board may not regulate it. Tellingly, the substance is legally available over the counter in Wisconsin.

Moving back to the restricted controlled substances laws, Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(d) provides an affirmative defense to operating under the influence of a controlled substance if a defendant "proves by a preponderance of the evidence that at the time of the incident or occurrence he or she had a valid prescription for methamphetamine or one of its metabolic precursors." As the circuit court noted, "If the purpose of the prohibition is to prohibit driving with any detectable amount of any form of methamphetamine irrespective of its legality, permitting a defense for a legal prescription but not for a legal, over the counter, substance is not logical." (R.111:16.)

If the State is arguing that only the presence of l-meth in a driver's blood to a degree that it causes impairment is prohibited, then such a prosecution would be actionable under Wis. Stat. § 346.63(a), which prohibits operating under the influence of any drug to a degree which renders a person incapable of safely driving. L-meth would fall under the relevant definition of a nonprescription drug found at § 450.01(13m). ("Nonprescription drug product' means any nonnarcotic drug product which may be sold without a prescription order and which is prepackaged for use by consumers and labeled in accordance with the requirements of state and federal law." *Id.*)

A plain language reading of these statutes, taken together, leads to a very ambiguous conclusion: l-meth cannot be a controlled substance, since it cannot be regulated by the Wisconsin Controlled Substances Board, but the use of "methamphetamine" does not specify the different isomers when discussing restricted controlled substances. L-meth is a non-prescription drug product, but classifying it as a "restricted controlled substance" under § 340.01(50m)(d) would contravene the contextually manifest purpose of controlled substance regulation and highway safety regulation by totally prohibiting the presence of one lawful substance in the absence of impairment.

Put simply, the State's position that l-meth is at once a "restricted controlled substance" without being a "controlled substance" is, at best, simply illogical, confusing, presenting the "absurd or unreasonable results" *Kalal* at ¶48 warns against with plain language statutory readings.

In light of the ambiguity of § 340.01(50m)(d), analysis of legislative history is needed to clarify the meaning of the statute.

B. Legislative history makes clear § 340.01(50m)(d) was not intended to include non-restricted, non-controlled substances.

2003 Wis. Act 97 established the restricted controlled substance prohibition in the Wisconsin Motor Vehicle Code. The Wisconsin Legislative Reference Bureau possess much material on the creation and adoption of the act in the form of pdf drafting files and communications. (Available at https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2003/related/drafting_files/wisconsin_acts/2003_a ct_097_ab_458 last accessed 9-4-2024.)

As pointed out by the circuit court in its decision (R.111:18-20), the drafting file for 2003 Wis. Act 97 reflects that from the outset, the drafters of the legislation were thinking about "controlled substances" with reference to § 961. The drafting file repeatedly references the Uniform Controlled Substance Schedules used in § 961 and federal law. There is no indication of any intent to define methamphetamine differently in the Motor Vehicle Code than it is defined in the Uniform Controlled Substances Act.

In an early email from the Acts author, Representative Mark Gundrum, tells the reference bureau "I am looking to declare that operating the vehicle with any amount of illegal substance in a person's system is per se negligent" and "I just want to address the controlled substance issue." *See drafting file* (#02) AB458 sub folder, 03-0465df_pt01.pdf, at 19.

An article about the origins of the legislation underscore that it was an attempt to address a situation where death resulted from a driver with "illegal drugs" in blood. *Id.* at 21-24. Under a section discussing the support of area prosecutors Gundrum is quoted as saying "Why in God's name would we let someone drive a motor vehicle after ingesting any *illegal* drugs?" *Id.* at 23 (emphasis added).

The drafting file contains notes from participants at a meeting between Gundrum and representatives of the Wisconsin Laboratory of Hygiene. It appears Representative Gundrum was seeking guidance from toxicology experts to properly capture his intent in the legislation. In notes from an unknown author relating to a meeting with Representative Gundrum on March 18, 2003, the author and Representative Gundrum talked with a "Ron" from the toxicology lab. *See drafting file* (#02) AB458 sub folder, 03-0465df_pt04.pdf, at 15. The notes reflect a discussion about three types of drugs: illegal drugs, prescription drugs, and over the counter drugs. *Id.* The note defines an illegal drug as a schedule I drug or any prescription drug for which a person does not have a prescription. *Id.* The conclusory note states, "SO: IF Rx or OTC, keep current law." *Id.* This suggests a conclusion of the conversation to not include prescription or over the counter drugs in the new legislation. Another note appears to memorialize the same conversation as "don't cover cases in which you have a prescription but don't follow prescription. Same w/ over the counter." *Id.* at 17.

A meeting was later apparently held between Representative Gundrum and Tom Neuser and Laura Liddicoat from the State Lab of Hygiene. The notes from an unknown author, possibly Representative Gundrum, contain a list of restricted controlled substances. Among other named substances is a note, "methamphetamine (unless prescription for it or its precursors)." *Id*. at 40. Mr. Neuser sent an email that appears to follow up on the April 22 meeting. In pertinent part, the email reads:

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